

# Purdue University Purdue e-Pubs

**Open Access Theses** 

Theses and Dissertations

January 2015

# The Home Literacy and Numeracy Environment in Preschool: Cross-Domain Relations of Parent Practices and Child Outcomes

Amy Rose Napoli Purdue University

Follow this and additional works at: https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open\_access\_theses

# **Recommended** Citation

Napoli, Amy Rose, "The Home Literacy and Numeracy Environment in Preschool: Cross-Domain Relations of Parent Practices and Child Outcomes" (2015). *Open Access Theses*. 1069. https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open\_access\_theses/1069

This document has been made available through Purdue e-Pubs, a service of the Purdue University Libraries. Please contact epubs@purdue.edu for additional information.

# PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL Thesis/Dissertation Acceptance

This is to certify that the thesis/dissertation prepared

# By Amy R. Napoli

Entitled

THE HOME LITERACY AND NUMERACY ENVIRONMENT IN PRESCHOOL: CROSS-DOMAIN RELATIONS OF PARENT PRACTICES AND CHILD OUTCOMES

For the degree of <u>Master of Science</u>

Is approved by the final examining committee:

David Purpura

Chair

Douglas Powell

Sara Schmitt

To the best of my knowledge and as understood by the student in the Thesis/Dissertation Agreement, Publication Delay, and Certification Disclaimer (Graduate School Form 32), this thesis/dissertation adheres to the provisions of Purdue University's "Policy of Integrity in Research" and the use of copyright material.

Approved by Major Professor(s): David Purpura

Approved by: \_\_\_\_\_ Doran French

11/23/2015

Head of the Departmental Graduate Program

# THE HOME LITERACY AND NUMERACY ENVIRONMENT IN PRESCHOOL: CROSS-DOMAIN RELATIONS OF PARENT PRACTICES AND CHILD OUTCOMES

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty

of

Purdue University

by

Amy R. Napoli

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree

of

Master of Science

December 2015

Purdue University

West Lafayette, Indiana

For Noah, Emma, Patrick, and Micah

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	v
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 School Readiness	
1.1.1 Early Literacy	
1.1.2 Early Numeracy	4
1.2 Domain -Specific Relations Between the Home Environment and	School
Readiness	5
1.2.1 Home Literacy Environment	
1.2.2 Home Numeracy Environment	9
1.3 Cross-Domain Relations	
1.3.1 Literacy and Numeracy Across Domains	
1.3.2 HLE and HNE Across Domains	14
1.4 Current Study	16
CHAPTER 2. METHOD	19
2.1 Participants	19
2.2 Data Collection	
2.3 Measures	
2.3.1 Test of Preschool Early Literacy (TOPEL)	
2.3.2 Preschool Early Numeracy Skills Screener – Brief Version (I	PENS-B) 21
2.3.3 Parent Questionnaire	21
2.4 Covariates	

P	age
2.5 Analytic Strategy	. 23
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS	. 26
3.1 Descriptive Statistics	. 26
3.2 Regression Analyses	. 26
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION	. 29
4.1 Domain -Specific Relations of the Home Literacy and Numeracy	
Environments	. 29
4.1.1 HLE Predicting Literacy Outcomes	. 29
4.1.2 HNE Predicting Numeracy Outcomes	. 31
4.2 Cross-Domain Relations of the Home Literacy and Numeracy Environments .	. 32
4.2.1 HLE Predicting Numeracy Outcomes	. 32
4.2.2 HNE Predicting Literacy Outcomes	. 33
4.2.3 The Home Learning Environment and Academic Outcomes	. 35
4.3 Limitations and Future Directions	. 36
4.4 Conclusion	. 39
TABLES	. 40
REFERENCES	. 46

# ABSTRACT

Napoli, Amy R. M.S., Purdue University, December 2015. The Home Literacy and Numeracy Environment in Preschool: Cross-Domain Relations of Parent Practices and Child Outcomes. Major Professor: David Purpura.

There is ample evidence indicating that early literacy and numeracy skills are important to later academic achievement, and that these early skills develop together. There is also evidence that parent-child literacy and numeracy practices are predictive of children's literacy and numeracy skills within their respective domains. However, there is limited research on the relations between the home literacy environment (HLE) and numeracy outcomes, and the home numeracy environment (HNE) and literacy outcomes. Thus, the purpose of the present study was to investigate the relations of the HLE and HNE to children's literacy and numeracy practices, both within and across domains. Participants were 114 preschoolers and their parents. Preschoolers ranged in age from 3.01 and 5.17 (M = 4.09) and were 54% female and 72% Caucasian. Parents reported the frequency of parent-child literacy and numeracy practices. Children were assessed in the fall and spring of their preschool year on their literacy (definitional vocabulary, phonological awareness, and print knowledge) and numeracy skills. Four hierarchical multiple regression analyses were conducted to predict each of the child outcomes. Results indicate that, although the HLE was not broadly predictive of children's literacy and numeracy outcomes, the HNE was predictive of numeracy, definitional vocabulary, and

phonological awareness outcomes. These findings emphasize the importance of parentchild home numeracy practices to children's academic outcomes at an early age. Specifically, the relation between the HNE and vocabulary development contributes to the growing body of research indicating the important relations between early numeracy and language development.

# CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

It is well documented that early academic skills are predictive of later achievement (Aunio & Niemivirta, 2010; Duncan et al., 2007; Rouse, Brooks-Gunn, & McLanahan, 2005; Stevenson & Newman, 1986). Despite the importance of these early skills, children often enter the school setting with considerable individual differences in their academic abilities (Klibanoff, Levin, Huttenlocher, Vasilyeva, & Hedges, 2006; Starkey, Klein, & Wakeley, 2004). Compared to their peers with less developed skills, children who enter school with adequately developed basic literacy and numeracy skills have an increased likelihood of success not only in kindergarten, but in subsequent grades as well (Byrnes & Wasik, 2009). One key factor associated with these school-entry ability differences is the home learning environment (Chazan-Cohen et al., 2009; Young-Loveridge, 1989). The importance of home learning opportunities and experiences to early academic achievement has been found above and beyond various family-, parent-, and child-level factors, including family income and maternal education (Kohen & Guèvremont, 2014; Yeo, Ong, & Ng, 2014).

What parents do - or do not do - in the home environment to engage their children in educational activities is related to the skills, motivation, and interests that children have when they enter formal academic settings (Fantuzzo et al., 2013; Lukie,

Skwarchuk, LeFevre, & Sowinski, 2014; Sonnenschein & Munsterman, 2002; Yeo et al., 2014). The quality of the early home environment, including parents' support of learning experiences, is predictive not only of academic achievement, but also of employment later in life (Pungello et al., 2010). Though considerable progress has been made in recent years to understand the specific mechanisms by which the home environment impacts children's development of early academic skills, these advances have been made primarily in the domain of literacy (e.g., Sonnenschein, Baker, & Serpell, 2010). Less research has been conducted examining children's home numeracy experiences. Additionally, though it is clear that the domains of early literacy and numeracy develop together and are related to each other (Hecht, Torgesen, Wagner, & Rashotte, 2001; Purpura, Hume, Sims, & Lonigan, 2011; Welsh, Nix, Blair, Bierman, & Nelson, 2010), little research has been conducted to examine connections between preschoolers' home literacy and numeracy experiences and the cross-domain relations of these experiences to child outcomes (cf. Anders et al., 2012; LeFevre, Polyzoi, Skwarchuk, Fast, & Sowinski, 2010). Establishing a clear understanding of associations between home learning environments and children's outcomes may inform interventions designed to reduce the achievement gap that affects many children at school entry (Brooks-Gunn & Markman, 2005). Thus, the central goal of this study was to assess how home literacy and numeracy practices contribute to children's literacy and numeracy outcomes both within and across academic domains during the preschool year.

# 1.1 School Readiness

School readiness in early childhood education refers to the behavioral, socialemotional, and cognitive skills that children need in order to meet the academic demands of formal schooling, and it has long been considered foundational for understanding the disparities in children's learning-related outcomes (Mahatmya, Lohman, Matjasko, & Farb, 2012). Two of the key school readiness domains in which children need to have sufficient mastery are early literacy and numeracy (Welsh et al., 2010). Importantly, disparities in these two areas are evident in children even as young as three years old (Brooks-Gunn, Klebanov, Smith, Duncan, & Lee, 2003) and are highly predictive of later achievement (Duncan et al., 2007). It is critical to understand the development of these early skills before kindergarten entry in order to provide children with the best opportunity to succeed throughout their academic careers.

#### 1.1.1 Early Literacy

Early, or emergent, literacy skills are the foundational skills and knowledge which pre-readers need in order to develop the ability to read and write (Roberts, Jurgens, & Burchinal, 2005; Whitehurst & Lonigan, 1998). Three specific literacy components that are related to children's developing reading abilities are print knowledge, oral language, and phonological awareness (Dickinson, McCabe, Anastasopoulos, Peisner-Feinberg, & Poe, 2003). These key components are defined in the following ways: print knowledge includes conventions of print (e.g., the direction that print is read and the way a book is held), alphabet knowledge, and print recognition; oral language includes vocabulary, grammar, and comprehension; and phonological awareness includes detection and manipulation of the parts of language, such as words and syllables (Pullen & Justice, 2003; Storch & Whitehurst, 2002). These early skills are the foundation upon which later reading skills are built and are predictive of later reading ability (Hurford, Schauf, Bunce, Blaich, & Moore, 1994; Snow, Burns, & Griffin, 1998). Many researchers view these early skills as the beginning of a developmental continuum which begins early in life and continues as children enter the school setting (Whitehurst & Lonigan, 1998).

Though children's individual literacy skills improve, their skill level in comparison to their peers generally remains stable throughout preschool and elementary school (i.e., low-achieving children in the early years are typically low-achieving in later years as well; Cabell, Justice, Logan, & Konald, 2013; Storch & Whitehurst, 2002; Wagner et al., 1997). However, when they do change over time, gaps in reading ability are likely to widen, producing what has been termed the Matthew Effect – students with positive early literacy experiences are able to build upon those experiences to facilitate greater learning, and those who lack positive early experiences continue to struggle (Chatterji, 2006; Stanovich, 1986). Torgesen (2002) argued that struggling readers require more intensive instruction in order to develop skills at the same rates as their peers, not because they are unable to learn at the same rate, but because they have so much more to learn. Additionally, he speculates that differences in home support are a primary reason as to why children differ in preparedness for learning to read, and that home support is an important factor in helping children who have fallen behind to catch up to their peers.

#### 1.1.2 Early Numeracy

There are also foundational numeracy skills that children need in order to develop more complex math skills, including: counting/quantification, numerical relations, and

arithmetic operations (National Mathematics Advisory Panel [NMAP], 2008; Purpura & Lonigan, 2013). Counting/quantification includes knowledge of the counting sequence and cardinality, numerical relation skills include ability to compare sets of quantities, and arithmetic operations include the rules of addition and subtraction (Purpura & Lonigan, 2013). There is evidence that children are capable of developing an understanding of numerical ideas from a very young age and should be exposed to numeracy concepts early in life (Ginsburg, Lee, & Boyd, 2008; Jordan & Levine, 2009). For example, infants appear to display evidence of understanding quantification as well as numerical equivalence for small numbers (Feigenson & Carey, 2003; Mix, Huttenlocher, & Levine, 2002). These skills build on a trajectory, and simpler concepts must be understood before more complex mathematical skills can be learned (Clements, Baroody, & Sarama, 2013).

As with literacy skills, differences in students' numeracy abilities tend to remain stable throughout preschool and elementary school (Aunola, Leskinen, Lerkkanen, & Nurmi, 2004; Jordan, Kaplan, Ramineni, & Locuniak, 2009). As such, the early years are a critical period for the development of these skills because they set the developmental trajectory for later skills. Gersten and Chard (1999) postulate that, through interactions in the home, children informally gain an understanding of numeracy concepts before kindergarten entry; a child who is not exposed to numeracy interactions in the home may not develop this understanding as readily as his/her peers.

# 1.2 Domain-Specific Relations Between the Home Environment and School Readiness

As Gersten and Chard (1999) emphasized, the foundation for children's development of academic skills is created in the home environment. Given that in 2013 approximately 45% of three and four year old children in America did not attend

preschool (United States Census Bureau, 2013), it is important to understand how the home setting functions as children's first, and often primary, learning environment. Further, for children who do attend preschool, it is important to understand how practices in the home may supplement instruction at school. The early home learning environment has been shown to have significant and lasting effects on early academic outcomes, as well as later academic attainment (Baker & Iruka, 2013; Bradley, Burchinal, & Casey, 2001; Brooks-Gunn & Markman, 2005; Melhuish et al., 2008; Pungello et al., 2010). Moreover, the quality of the home learning environment is related to children's early academic development independent of structural characteristics of the home, such as income, education, and ethnic background (Adi-Japha & Klein, 2009; Kluczniok, Lehrl, Kuger, & Rossbach, 2013).

The home learning environment is predictive of children's academic abilities at school entry. For example, Melhuish and colleagues (2008) found that children of parents who reported greater frequencies of learning-related activities (i.e., reading, going to the library, playing with numbers, painting/drawing, learning letters and numbers, and learning songs or rhymes) were more likely to be higher achieving in both literacy and numeracy, whereas children whose parents reported practicing these activities less often were more likely to be lower achieving. These differences were found at five years old and were partially maintained when measured two years later. Fewer home learning practices during the preschool years was predictive of low achievement at seven years old, but more frequent learning practices was not predictive of higher achievement. Thus, though the relation between parents' early home learning practices (i.e., before school

entry) and children's academic achievement may be reduced as children advance through school, they remain an important predictor of achievement.

Melhuish et al. (2008) identified possible reasons why the home learning environment is important for children's academic development. They suggest that the relations may be due to the teaching of specific skills, but that they are also likely due to the general academic motivation promoted in the overall environment; in a positive, encouraging setting where children are exposed to various learning experiences, they are "learning to learn" (p. 108). The authors argue that, in line with Vygotsky's (1978) theory that children learn from the environment around them, and specifically from adults, children are stimulated and their learning is reinforced by encouragement from their parents.

General, positive interactions in the home environment may teach children to become learners, but it is also the case that targeting domain-specific skills in the home setting may aid children in acquiring specific skillsets. Two domains that parents commonly target in the home are literacy and numeracy, and the home environments specific to each have been shown to relate to children's domain-specific outcomes (i.e., the home literacy environment is related to literacy outcomes and the home numeracy environment is related to numeracy outcomes; Baker, 2014; Kleemans, Peeters, Segers, & Verhoeven, 2012). Understanding the relations between specific home environment domains and children's outcomes may provide insight as to whether it is specific practices that relate to specific outcomes, or whether, as Melhuish and colleagues (2008) speculated, a broad, generally supportive home learning environment is an adequate way of understanding how parent-child practices relate to children's academic outcomes.

# 1.2.1 Home Literacy Environment

There is a wealth of information on the importance of the home literacy environment (HLE) for children ranging from infancy to adolescence, with the majority of this research focusing on the preschool and early elementary years (e.g., Bus, van IJzendoorn, & Pellegrini, 1995; Lee & Croninger, 1994; Schmitt, Simpson, & Friend, 2011). The HLE has been broadly defined as the characteristics of the home setting that are thought to contribute to the development of children's pre-reading and reading skills (Foster, Lambert, Abbott-Shim, McCarty, & Franze, 2005; Payne, Whitehurst, & Angell, 1994). These characteristics include: literacy materials in the home, frequency of storybook reading, parents' own literary enjoyment and practices, maternal engagement, enrichment activities, parents' literacy beliefs, and parents' literacy abilities. Each aspect of the HLE has been found to contribute to children's acquisition of early literacy skills (Levy, Gong, Hessels, Evans, & Jared, 2006; Sonnenschein & Munsterman, 2002). Specifically, parent-child literacy practices and parents' active role in engaging their children in literacy activities are important to children's early literacy development (Baker, 2014; Bennett, Weigel, & Martin, 2002; Burgess, Hecht, & Longian, 2002). Parent reports of shared book reading and practices focused on letter name and sound identification and letter writing have been found to be related to each of the fundamental early literacy domains (print knowledge, oral language, and phonological awareness; Bennett et al., 2002; Foy & Mann, 2003; Levy et al., 2006).

The HLE is especially important during the preschool years when children are beginning to develop the early literacy skills that they need to become successful readers, as these early experiences lay the foundation for more advanced reading skills (Hood, Conlon, & Andrews, 2008; Whitehurst & Lonigan, 1998). Though not all researchers have found significant relations between the HLE and children's literacy outcomes (e.g., Baroody & Diamond, 2012), the majority of research indicates that the HLE predicts children's literacy outcomes, and these relations have been demonstrated across varying language, ethnic, and economic backgrounds (Daniels, 2012; Farver, Xu, Lonigan, & Eppe, 2013; Hindman & Morrison, 2012). Additionally, the deficits related to an early HLE lacking in consistent, quality exposure to literacy activities are persistent and differences in children's abilities can be observed years later (Schmitt et al., 2011; Sonnenschein et al., 2010). There are clear connections between preschoolers' HLE, prereading skills, and later reading abilities (Levy et al., 2006; Sénénchal & LeFevre, 2002). Thus, it is evident that when parents provide a home environment that encourages literacy interest and promotes literacy skills, they are helping their children to achieve long-term reading success.

# 1.2.2 Home Numeracy Environment

Whereas the relations between the HLE and children's literacy skills are fairly well established, the relations between the home numeracy environment (HNE) and children's numeracy skills are less well understood. Though limited research has examined the HNE of preschoolers (e.g., Anders et al., 2012; Niklas, Cohrssen, & Tayler, 2015), the predominance of the evidence showing associations between the HNE and children's numeracy skills has been established in kindergarten (e.g., LeFevre, Polyzoi et al., 2010). However, children begin developing mathematical abilities very early in life and the HNE in kindergarten, particularly parental involvement and engagement in mathematical activities, plays a unique role in the development of mathematics skills, emphasizing the need for these connections to be examined earlier in life (Hill, 2001; Kleemans et al., 2012; LeFevre et al., 2009; Niklas & Schneider, 2013; Young-Loveridge, 1987). Similar to the HLE, the HNE consists of the values, beliefs, knowledge, background, experience, physical resources, practices, and attitudes in the home that promote the development of children's numeracy skills (Street, Baker, & Tomlin, 2008). Parents' observed and reported numeracy practices are positively related to children's early numeracy concepts in preschool (Anders et al., 2012; Niklas et al., 2015) and kindergarten (Kleemans et al., 2012; LeFevre, Clarke, & Stringer, 2002; Vandermaas-Peeler & Pittard, 2014).

Despite the fact that parents' numeracy practices are related to children's understanding of math at a very young age (i.e., three years old; LeFevre et al., 2002), parents report engaging in fewer mathematical activities with younger preschool children than with older preschool children (i.e., three vs. four years old; Son & Morrison, 2010). Only recently have researchers begun to examine the HNE at the early preschool level (e.g., Anders et al., 2012; DeFlorio & Beliakoff, 2014). Anders and colleagues (2012) found that the HNE (i.e., presence of toys that teach shapes and colors; presence of toys that teach numbers; and stimulation to learn shapes, colors, spatial relationships, digits, and counting) accounted for significant variance in three-year-olds' numeracy abilities at preschool entry. Further, the relation between high-quality HNE and children's numeracy abilities remained significant over the next two years of preschool, illustrating the positive, lasting implications of parents' numeracy practices on very young children. DeFlorio and Beliakoff (2014) also examined aspects of the HNE in preschool. Although they did not report analyses of the relations between parents' numeracy practices and preschoolers' outcomes, their findings indicate that there are important relations between parents' beliefs about their role in their children's numeracy development, expectations about typical numeracy development, and their children's numeracy outcomes.

Though the majority of the current literature available on the HNE shows a promising relation between the home environment and children's mathematical development, a few studies have found negative relations between parents' numeracy practices and children's outcomes (Blevins-Knabe & Musin-Miller, 1996; Missall, Hojnoski, Caskie, & Repasky, 2015). For example, in a study examining the HNE of four to six year old children, Blevins-Knabe and Musin-Miller (1996) found that, although four parent-reported activities (i.e., child saying numbers 1-3, parent using numbers 1-3, child mentioning number facts, and parent mentioning number facts) positively related to children's numeracy outcomes, four other activities (i.e., parent using "same number" concept, parent teaching child to count, parent reciting numbers 1-10, and parent teaching child to recite numbers) were negatively related to children's numeracy outcomes. However, the age of the child was not used as a control variable in analyses, and the activities which appeared to negatively affect outcomes were those that would be expected of parents of younger children who were just beginning to develop these concepts (e.g., reciting numbers). These analyses may have made it appear as though the practices were negatively related to outcomes, when in actuality the practices were associated more with younger children with less-developed numeracy skills.

An alternative explanation of these negative relations can be generated from the findings of Sonnenschein and colleagues (2012) which suggest that parents' numeracy practices vary with children's age, a pattern also found by other researchers (LeFevre et

al., 2002). Sonnenschein et al. (2012) found that parents of younger children (i.e., preschool and kindergarten aged) reported practicing more "basic" math skills with their children (counting objects, identifying shapes, doing puzzles, watching math television programs) while parents of older children (i.e., elementary school aged) reported engaging in more adding/subtracting, writing numbers, using math workbooks, using calendars, and telling time. Though it is not surprising that parents engage older children in more complex activities, many of the more complex activities examined by Sonnenschein et al. have been identified as developmentally appropriate for younger children (Seo & Ginsburg, 2004). It is possible that negative relations between the HNE and children's numeracy abilities were found because parents do not always understand which types of numeracy practices are age-appropriate for their children (Fluck, Linnell, & Holgate, 2005; Holloway, Rambaud, Fuller, & Eggers-Piérola, 1995; Skwarchuk, 2009), or because parents practice more basic skills with older children who are struggling or who are behind in numeracy development. The inconsistencies found in the current research on the relation between the HNE and numeracy outcomes highlight a need for further evaluation of these early skills in general, and their relation to parents' home practices specifically. Further, as numeracy skills develop rapidly in the early years, it is important for children's age to be included in analyses to account for developmentally appropriate differences in ability.

#### 1.3 Cross-Domain Relations

#### 1.3.1 Literacy and Numeracy Across Domains

It is evident that literacy and numeracy development are related (Purpura et al., 2011; Savage, Carless, & Ferraro, 2007). Children who struggle in one domain often

experience difficulties in the other (Light & DeFries, 1995), and it has been suggested that an emphasis on building literacy and numeracy skills simultaneously is a promising way to prepare children for formal schooling (Munn, 1994). There is a large body of work which suggests that early literacy and language skills are related to early numeracy skills, as well as later mathematics abilities (Bloom & Wynn, 1997; Davidse, De Jong, & Bus, 2014; Grimm, 2008; Kurdek & Sinclair, 2001; Lopez, Gallimore, Garnier, & Reese, 2007; Purpura & Ganley, 2014; Savage et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2014). Although all three aspects of emergent literacy have been found to be generally related to mathematics performance (Hecht et al., 2001; Piasta, Purpura, & Wagner, 2010; Romano, Babchishin, Pagani, & Kohen, 2010), particularly strong relations have been found between print knowledge and vocabulary and early numeracy (LeFevre, Fast, et al., 2010; Purpura et al., 2011; Purpura & Napoli, 2015). The relation between print knowledge and early numeracy is likely due to similarities in the processes of learning code-based print that is present in both literacy and numeracy development (Brizuela, 2004; Pupura & Napoli, 2015).

Despite extensive evidence that language and numeracy are related, it is unclear whether this relation is facilitative (language allows for the use of numeracy concepts) or causal (language is the foundation of numeracy) in nature (Gelman & Butterworth, 2005). Regardless of the nature of the relation, language is a critical component in the connection between early literacy and numeracy. For example, though studies with infants show that a person does not necessarily need to be able to speak in order to understand basic numeracy concepts (e.g., quantification; Mix et al., 2002), a person does need to have an understanding of word meanings in order to be able to understand, and express understanding, of more complex concepts (e.g., discrete quantification; Slusser, Ditta, & Sarnecka, 2013). Furthermore, evidence indicates that an interactive and engaging mathematics curriculum may also have positive benefits for children's language skills (Sarama, Lange, Clements, & Wolfe, 2012). Thus, it appears likely that engaging in numeracy activities may also be related to children's language development.

## 1.3.2 HLE and HNE Across Domains

Specific to their domains, it is apparent that both the HLE and the HNE are important aspects in the development of children's early literacy and numeracy skills. However, engaging in literacy and numeracy activities at home may also be related to positive development across domains. Specifically, the HLE has also been found to be predictive of numeracy performance (Anders et al., 2012; Melhuish et al., 2008). Positive relations have also been found longitudinally between toddlers' HLE and their preschool numeracy abilities (Baker, 2014). Anders and colleagues (2012) found that, though the HLE and HNE were both significant predictors of numeracy skills, the HLE was a better predictor of numeracy skills at preschool entry than was the HNE. LeFevre, Polyzoi, et al. (2010) found similar relations between Greek, but not Canadian, five year olds' HLE and numeracy outcomes.

One mechanism which may explain the relations between the HLE and numeracy development is language. Anders and colleagues (2012) posit that one could argue that "adequate language skills are a prerequisite for the acquisition of mathematical knowledge" (p. 241). The general home environment (Roberts et al., 2005), and the HLE specifically (Payne et al., 1994), may contribute to children's language development, and strong relations have been found between language and numeracy development

(Kroesbergen, Van Luit, Van Lieshout, Van Loosbroek, & Van de Rijt, 2009; Purpura & Ganley, 2014). Further, parents' use of math-specific language is related to children's numeracy knowledge (Gunderson & Levine, 2011). It is possible that parents' literacy-focused activities provide children with the language skills necessary to understand and express mathematical skills. It is also likely that parents who frequently practice literacy activities with their children expose their children to math-specific language during those activities (e.g., counting or discussing spatial relations while engaging in shared reading).

Unfortunately, in the previously mentioned studies of the HLE and numeracy, LeFevre, Polyzoi, and colleagues (2010) and Anders and colleagues (2012) did not report assessing children's literacy outcomes and Baker (2014) did not collect information on home numeracy practices. Thus, they could not examine the cross-domain relations of the HNE and literacy outcomes. Though there is some evidence of the HLE supporting numeracy development, there has been little research examining the relations between the HNE and literacy outcomes. This lack of evidence is surprising given that early numeracy is a stronger predictor of later reading than is early literacy (Duncan et al., 2007; Romano et al., 2010) and that mathematics curricula may positively contribute not only to the development of numeracy skills, but also to the development of early language skills (Sarama et al., 2012). Given the extensive evidence that math is related to and predictive of early literacy skills, particularly language, it is likely that a home environment supportive of numeracy practices would have a positive impact on aspects of children's early literacy development due to increased opportunities for language-rich interactions.

The reasons underlying *why* literacy and numeracy are related are not fully understood. After finding a relation between preschoolers' narrative and later numeracy

abilities, O'Neill, Pearce, and Pick (2004) speculated that one cause may be similarities between literacy and numeracy in brain functioning. Borrowing from Devlin's (2000) rationale, they posited that the parts of the brain that allow humans to process math are the same parts that allow language use. Therefore, when children are exposed to numeracy concepts, they are also exercising their literacy skills. Similarly, Sarama and colleagues (2012) theorized that some skills which are developed through mathematics, specifically reasoning, problem solving, and communication, are also necessary for language. These skills, when practiced within a numeracy context, may also transfer to literacy concepts. Other researchers (e.g., Duncan et al., 2007) have made similar observations, and emphasize the importance of further examining the mechanisms behind the relations of literacy and numeracy. The understanding of these cross-domain relations is fundamental to understanding whether a home learning environment that includes activities rich in one domain (literacy or numeracy) can enhance the development of the other domain.

#### 1.4 Current Study

The focus of the current study was to investigate both domain-specific and crossdomain relations between parent-reported HLE and HNE and preschoolers' academic outcomes. The study provides an additional investigation regarding the relations between the HLE and literacy outcomes and the HNE and numeracy outcomes. Further, it investigates the relation between the HLE and numeracy outcomes. Critically, and unique to this study, the relation between the HNE and literacy outcomes was also examined. Utilizing data of home literacy and numeracy practices, reported by parents in the fall of the 2013 academic year, and children's fall 2013 and spring 2014 literacy and numeracy outcomes, there were two primary questions:

**Question 1.** Do parent-child literacy and numeracy practices in the fall (i.e., composite variables of each domain, as defined below) predict children's domain-specific spring literacy and numeracy outcomes?

*Hypothesis 1a.* Based on previous findings (Bennet et al., 2002; Burgess et al., 2002), it was predicted that parents' literacy practices with their children would predict children's print knowledge, definitional vocabulary, and phonological awareness outcomes.

*Hypothesis 1b.* Based on previous findings (Kleemans et al., 2012; LeFevre et al., 2002; Vandermaas-Peeler & Pittard, 2014), it was predicted that parents' numeracy practices with their children would predict children's numeracy outcomes.

**Question 2.** Do parent-child literacy and numeracy practices in the fall have cross-domain relations with spring academic outcomes? That is, do parents' literacy practices with their children predict children's numeracy outcomes, above and beyond numeracy practices? Additionally, do parents' numeracy practices with their children predict children's literacy outcomes, above and beyond literacy practices?

*Hypothesis 2a.* Consistent with prior findings (Anders et al., 2012; Baker, 2014), it was predicted that parents' literacy practices with their children would predict children's numeracy outcomes above and beyond numeracy practices.

*Hypothesis 2b.* Based on the findings that numeracy skills are predictive of literacy (Duncan et al., 2007; Romano et al., 2010) and that high-quality mathematics instruction may have positive impacts specifically on language skills (Sarama et al.,

2012), it was predicted that parents' numeracy practices with their children would predict definitional vocabulary, but not print knowledge or phonological awareness, outcomes above and beyond literacy practices.

### CHAPTER 2. METHOD

#### 2.1 Participants

Participants were recruited from twelve schools in the Greater Lafayette area of Indiana. Letters explaining the study, consent forms, and questionnaires were sent home to all parents of 3-5 year old children attending these schools. Parents of 125 preschoolers completed the background questionnaire, gave permission for their children to participate, and had children who participated in pretesting. Of those children, 11 were unavailable for posttesting and were not included in analyses. Children who were excluded from analyses did not significantly differ from those included in regards to age F(1, 123) =0.63, p = .428. However, parents whose children remained in the study reported significantly higher educational attainment than those who left, F(1, 123) = 5.29, p = .023. The 114 preschoolers included in the analyses were 54% female, 72% white, 9% Asian, and 19% other or multiracial, which is approximately representative of the local demographics. Children ranged in age from 3.01 to 5.17 years (M = 4.09, SD = 0.59) at time of parental consent. Parents' highest education ranged from attainment of a GED to attainment of a graduate degree; 23% of parents had some college or less, 32% had an Associate's or Bachelor's degree, and 45% had a graduate degree.

# 2.2 Data Collection

Data were collected in the fall (September-December) and spring (February-May) of the 2013-2014 academic year as part of a larger project examining children's early academic development. As often as possible, children were assessed in the spring in approximately the same order as they were in the fall and with approximately the same number of months between assessments (i.e., a child assessed early in fall testing would also be assessed early in spring testing). Children were invited individually to participate in math and reading assessments and all participants included in analyses gave verbal or nonverbal assent. Participants received a sticker at the completion of each testing session. All data were collected in the students' preschools, most often in a quiet area outside of the classroom. Assessments took a total of approximately 60 to 90 minutes and were conducted in three or four sessions. All assessments were conducted by graduate or undergraduate students studying in the fields of human development and family studies or speech, language, and hearing sciences. All assessors completed two or three two-hour training sessions and were required to demonstrate their competence and knowledge of assessments by "testing out" in order to participate in data collection. The testing out process involved administering each of the assessments to a lead project member who ensured that administration and scoring were done correctly.

#### 2.3 Measures

2.3.1 Test of Preschool Early Literacy (TOPEL)

The TOPEL (Lonigan, Wagner, Torgesen, & Rashotte, 2007) was used to evaluate preschoolers' literacy skills. The TOPEL includes three subtests: Print Knowledge (PK), Definitional Vocabulary (DV), and Phonological Awareness (PA). The PK subtest measures letter name identification, letter sound identification, and concepts of print. The DV subtest measures children's vocabulary and ability to provide definitions of words. The PA subtest includes elision and blending tasks. The TOPEL has high internal consistency for each subtest (PK:  $\alpha = .95$ ; DV:  $\alpha = .94$ ; PA:  $\alpha = .87$ ).

2.3.2 Preschool Early Numeracy Skills Screener – Brief Version (PENS-B)

The PENS-B (Purpura, Reid, Eiland, & Baroody, 2015) was used to evaluate preschoolers' numeracy skills. The PENS-B is a 24-item measure which takes approximately five minutes to administer and assesses the broad numeracy skills that children are exposed to in preschool and kindergarten. Specific assessment areas include: set comparison, numeral comparison, one-to-one correspondence, number order, numeral identification, ordinality, and number combinations. Children received one point for each correct answer. Although all 24 items were administered, a ceiling rule was applied to analyses and children did not receive points for any correct responses after three consecutive incorrect responses (Purpura et al., 2015). The PENS-B has high internal consistency ( $\alpha$  = .93) and is correlated with the Test of Early Mathematics Ability – 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition (TEMA-3; *r* = .73).

# 2.3.3 Parent Questionnaire

Parents were asked to complete a researcher-created background information questionnaire. They provided socioeconomic status information, such as educational achievement, income, and characteristics of the family and home environment. Parents also reported the frequency of practicing specific literacy and numeracy activities in the home with their children, with six options ranging from "never" (0) to "multiple times a day" (5). Questions on the HLE and HNE were modified from previous research(LeFevre et al., 2009) in order to reflect age-appropriate activities for the current sample.

Questions from the background questionnaire were used to create composite variables representing the HLE and the HNE. Four questions regarding the frequency of parents' practices were used to create a composite variable of the frequency of home literacy practices ( $\alpha = .67$ ): printing letters, reading storybooks, identifying letters, and identifying letter sounds. Eight questions regarding the frequency of parents' numeracy practices were used to create a composite variable of the HNE ( $\alpha = .75$ ): counting objects, printing numbers, reading number storybooks, using number activity books, using the terms more and less, counting down, learning simple sums, and identifying written numbers.

Of the 125 parents who consented for their child to participate, 13 were missing at least one HLE or HNE item from the parent questionnaire. Rather than excluding these parents from analyses, the missing values function in SPSS was used to impute missing items using linear interpolation.

# 2.4 Covariates

Rapid automatized naming, number of children in the home, and parent education were used as covariates as these factors have been previously shown to be related to the home learning environment and/or child outcomes (Benigno & Ellis, 2004; Raikes et al., 2006; Skwarchuk, Sowinski, & LeFevre, 2014). Sex was also included as a covariate because there is evidence that there are gender differences in children's exposure to numeracy in the home (Chang, Sandhofer, & Brown, 2011). Age was also used as a covariate because it is expected that children's ability in both literacy and numeracy increases with age. Lastly, fall assessment results were used as a covariate to control for previous ability.

Rapid automatized naming (RAN) tasks were utilized as a measure of cognitive processing. RAN is associated with both reading and mathematics skills and is considered a basic processing skills measure (Georgiou, Tziraki, Manolitsis, & Fella, 2013), and therefore was controlled for in all analyses. RAN was assessed using two tasks – a colors task and a pictures task. For the colors task, children were presented with a sheet of paper containing colored boxes (blue, red, green, and black) in four rows and eight columns. Children were asked to name the color of each box in order as quickly as possible and were timed doing so. For the pictures task, children were presented with a sheet of paper containing pictures (cars, cats, houses, and pigs) in five rows and eight columns. They were asked to name each object in order as quickly as possible and were timed doing so. A single RAN score was calculated by averaging the color and picture scores.

# 2.5 Analytic Strategy

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics 22. In each model, either spring literacy or numeracy scores were used as dependent variables, as described below. RAN, number of children in the home, parent education, child sex, child age, and fall assessment results were used as control variables in the first step of all regression analyses. Specific predictor variables unique to each analysis are presented below.

**Question 1.** Do parent-reported literacy and numeracy practices in the fall (i.e., composite variables of each domain, as defined above) predict children's domain-specific spring literacy and numeracy outcomes?

*Analytic plan 1a.* To test the hypothesis that parent literacy practices would predict children's print knowledge, definitional vocabulary, and phonological awareness outcomes, three hierarchical multiple regressions were conducted. One analysis was conducted for each of the literacy outcome variables – print knowledge, definitional vocabulary, and phonological awareness. These were entered as dependent variables. In Step 1, control variables (RAN, number of children in the home, parent education, and child's sex and age) were entered. The fall literacy skill that matched the outcome literacy skill was also entered in Step 1 (e.g., fall PK scores were entered in the analysis for spring PK scores). In Step 2, the HLE composite variable was added to the model to determine if it contributed to literacy outcomes above and beyond the control variables.

*Analytic plan1b.* To test the hypothesis that that parents' numeracy practices would predict children's numeracy outcomes, one hierarchical multiple regression was conducted. The spring PENS-B score was used as the dependent variable. In Step 1, control variables and the fall PENS-B score were entered. In Step 2, the HNE composite variable was added to the model to determine if it contributed to numeracy outcomes above and beyond the control variables.

**Question 2:** Do parent-reported literacy and numeracy practices in the fall have cross-domain relations with spring academic outcomes? That is, do parents' literacy practices predict children's numeracy outcomes, above and beyond numeracy practices? Additionally, do parents' numeracy practices predict children's literacy outcomes, above and beyond literacy practices?

*Analytic plan 2*. Four hierarchical multiple regressions were conducted. To determine if numeracy practices uniquely related to literacy outcomes, the HNE

composite variable was added in Step 3 to the models described in Analytic Plan 1a. To determine if literacy practices uniquely related to numeracy outcomes, the HLE composite variable was added in Step 3 to the model described in Analytic Plan 1b.

# CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

# 3.1 Descriptive Statistics

Means, ranges, standard deviations, skewness, and kurtosis for covariates, child outcomes, and home environment scores are presented in Table 1. Correlations between covariates, literacy and numeracy outcomes, and the HLE and HNE are presented in Table 2. Children's age was correlated with each of the child outcomes, as well as the HLE and HNE. The number of children in the home was not significantly correlated with any outcome variables or the HLE or HNE. RAN was correlated with each of the outcome variables, as well as the HLE and HNE. The HLE and HNE were also strongly correlated.

# 3.2 Regression Analyses

Results of regression analyses are presented in Tables 3-6.

**Question 1.** Do parent-child literacy and numeracy practices in the fall (i.e., composite variables of each domain) predict children's domain-specific spring literacy and numeracy outcomes?

*Hypothesis 1a.* The HLE predicted children's definitional vocabulary outcome, F(1, 106) = 29.32, p = .050, above and beyond covariates (i.e., RAN, number of children in the home, parent education, child's sex, child's age, and fall assessments scores). However, the HLE did not significantly predict children's spring print knowledge, F(1, 106) = 38.52, p = .295, or phonological awareness, F(1, 106) = 9.35, p = .136, outcomes.

*Hypothesis 1b*. The HNE significantly predicted children's spring PENS-B outcomes, above and beyond covariates and the fall PENS-B score, F(1, 106) = 19.62, p = .005.

**Question 2.** Do parent-child literacy and numeracy practices in the fall have cross-domain relations with spring academic outcomes? That is, do parents' literacy practices with their children predict children's numeracy outcomes, above and beyond numeracy practices? Additionally, do parents' numeracy practices with their children predict children's literacy outcomes, above and beyond literacy practices?

*Hypothesis 2a.* The HLE did not significantly predict children's spring PENS-B outcomes above and beyond the HNE, F(1, 105) = 17.34, p = .286. Further, when the HLE was added to the model, the HNE was no longer a significant predictor. However, when the HNE was removed from the model, the HLE significantly predicted spring PENS-B outcomes above and beyond other covariates, F(1, 106) = 19.01, p = .015, suggesting that there may be shared variance between the two domains.

*Hypothesis 2b.* As hypothesized, the HNE significantly predicted children's spring definitional vocabulary score, above and beyond covariates, fall definitional vocabulary score, and the HLE, F(1, 105) = 31.27, p < .001. The HNE also predicted phonological awareness outcomes above and beyond covariates and the HLE, F(1, 105) = 8.89, p = .051. When the HNE was added to the model, the HLE was no longer a

significant predictor of definitional vocabulary. The HNE did not significantly predict print knowledge outcomes, F(1, 105) = 33.87, p = .299.

*Supplemental analyses.* To assess whether the home learning environment in general (e.g., including items from both the HLE and HNE in one measure) is a better predictor of child mathematics and literacy outcomes than considering the two factors separately, post hoc analyses were conducted. One composite variable that included the 12 items used to calculate the HLE (four items) and HNE (eight items) was created. The home learning environment variable ( $\alpha = .80$ ) was entered into four hierarchical multiple regression analyses after covariates were added in the first step. The HNE and HLE variables were not included in these analyses as separate variables. The general home environment score significantly predicted spring definitional vocabulary, *F*(1, 106) = 32.68, *p* = .001, phonological awareness, *F*(1, 106) = 10.88, *p* = .003, and numeracy outcomes, *F*(1, 106) = 18.57, *p* = .033. The general home learning environment did not significantly predict spring print knowledge outcomes, *F*(1, 106) = 39.03, *p* = .148.
#### CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

# 4.1 Domain-Specific Relations of the Home Literacy and Numeracy Environments4.1.1 HLE Predicting Literacy Outcomes

It was hypothesized that the HLE would be predictive of children's print knowledge, definitional vocabulary, and phonological awareness outcomes. In contrast to expectations, the HLE predicted only definitional vocabulary and did not significantly predict print knowledge or phonological awareness. Although there is a consistent body of evidence supporting the relations between the HLE and children's literacy outcomes, there are some contrary findings (e.g., Baroody & Diamond, 2012). Specifically, the findings of the present study are consistent with findings of Son and Morrison (2010) that the home learning environment is related to children's language skills but not to their general academic skills, including letter and word identification, even when the direct teaching of academic skills by parents is considered (e.g., encouraging children to learn to read a few words).

Previous research indicates that parents' active role in teaching their children early literacy skills is related to children's language outcomes (Bennett et al., 2002). Likewise, in the present study, the HLE was a significant predictor of children's oral language outcomes, as assessed through definitional vocabulary. It was found that more frequent parent-child literacy practices are related to better vocabulary outcomes. It is likely that parent-child literacy practices are related to children's vocabulary development because these practices provide an opportunity for dialogue. Hindman, Skibbe, and Foster (2014) found that during activities such as shared book reading, parents are more likely to focus on meaning-related talk than on code-related talk, and that this meaning-related talk is related to preschoolers' vocabulary development. These findings may explain why relations were found between the HLE and definitional vocabulary, but not phonological awareness or print knowledge.

There are a few additional possible explanations for why the HLE did not predict print knowledge or phonological awareness. First, it is possible that quantity of practices is not a sufficient measure of the HLE and that quality indicators, such as the depth and clarity of parents' explanations, are more closely related to children's outcomes. Even parents who report frequently working with their children may not have the skills that are necessary to teach their children a broad range of early literacy skills. Second, it is possible that considering the HLE in broader terms, rather than considering only indicators thought to relate directly to literacy, may be a better way of predicting certain outcomes. Though the parent-child practices that were considered (e.g., identifying letter sounds) are closely aligned with the literacy outcomes that were assessed, there may be additional practices and behaviors that contribute to these outcomes. For example, Schmitt and colleagues (2011) included such variables as joint attention and shared conversation in their measure of the HLE. It may be that a more broadly defined HLE is a more appropriate measure of parent-child interactions and more accurately covers the scope of interactions that are related to children's language and literacy outcomes (Schmitt et al., 2011). Third, it is likely that children's teachers spent more class time on

literacy activities than on numeracy activities. Given that the majority of children in this study attended full-day preschool programs, and that there are often significant differences between the amount of literacy and numeracy instruction that preschoolers receive in the classroom (Skibbe, Hindman, Connor, Housey, & Morrison, 2013), children were likely exposed to literacy activities throughout the day, while not being equally exposed to numeracy activities. Thus, the relations of the HLE may not have been strong enough to account for changes in children's literacy skills above and beyond changes due to classroom instruction. In contrast, the HNE may be expected to account for variance in children's numeracy abilities if children were exposed to fewer numeracy practices in the classroom.

### 4.1.2 HNE Predicting Numeracy Outcomes

It was hypothesized that the HNE would predict children's numeracy outcomes. As expected, the HNE predicted preschoolers' numeracy outcomes above and beyond child- and family-level characteristics such as age and fall numeracy performance. The ability of the HNE to significantly predict preschoolers' numeracy outcomes indicates that parent-child numeracy practices in the home may contribute to children's early numeracy skills for children as young as three years old. More frequent parental engagement in children's numeracy practices, such as counting and learning about numbers, is related to children's acquisition of these skills. These findings contribute to a growing body of research that indicates that the HNE is related to children's numeracy abilities from a very early age (Anders et al., 2012; Niklas et al., 2015). This is particularly important given that parents report less frequent numeracy practices with younger preschool-aged children than they do with older preschool-aged children (Son & Morrison, 2010). It is possible that increasing the frequency of numeracy practices with younger children may help them to acquire numeracy skills from a younger age. Though at older ages the relation between the HNE and numeracy outcomes is generally consistent, research findings regarding the HNE in preschool have been mixed. Some researchers have found positive relations between the HNE and children's numeracy outcomes (Kleemans et al., 2012), and others have not (Blevins-Knabe & Musin-Miller, 1996). However, when age is included as a covariate in analyses, positive relations between the HNE and preschoolers' numeracy outcomes have often been found. Numeracy skills develop rapidly during the preschool years and age-related differences in early numeracy skills are expected when a range of ages are included in the sample, as were in the present study (i.e., three to five year olds). Additionally, differences in parents' practices based on their children's age, such as practicing more basic skills with younger children (Sonnenschein et al., 2012), may make it appear that those practices are related to poorer outcomes, when in actuality the outcomes are a reflection of younger children having less-developed numeracy skills than their older peers. This may explain why researchers such as Blevins-Knabe and Musin-Miller (1996) have found relations between the HNE and some numeracy skills, but not others. Utilizing age as a covariate, as was done in the current study, controls for these age-related differences in numeracy abilities and practices.

4.2 Cross-Domain Relations of the Home Literacy and Numeracy Environments

#### 4.2.1 HLE Predicting Numeracy Outcomes

The hypothesis that the HLE would significantly predict preschoolers' numeracy outcomes was not supported. The HLE was not found to be a significant predictor of children's numeracy outcomes above and beyond the HNE. However, similar to previous research (Anders et al., 2012), the HLE was a significant predictor of numeracy outcomes when the HNE was not included in the model. These findings may be due to the strong correlation between the HLE and the HNE. On average, parents who reported frequent parent-child literacy practices also reported frequent parent-child numeracy practices. The HNE and HLE likely account for shared variance of parents' home practices in general as both the HNE and the HLE significantly predicted preschoolers' numeracy outcomes when the other was not in the model.

#### 4.2.2 HNE Predicting Literacy Outcomes

It was also hypothesized that the HNE would predict children's language outcomes, as measured by a definitional vocabulary assessment. This hypothesis was supported; the HNE predicted children's vocabulary outcomes not only above and beyond child- and family-level characteristics and the fall definitional vocabulary scores, but also above and beyond the HLE. Interestingly, when the HNE was added to the model, the HLE was no longer a significant predictor. The relation between the HNE and vocabulary outcomes is likely due to the opportunity that parent-child numeracy interactions present for in-depth verbal interactions. When parents scaffold their children's numeracy development, they are likely providing explanations to their children that may contribute to their vocabulary development. Though these outcomes cannot be interpreted causally, they support previous findings that a language-rich numeracy environment supports both numeracy and language development (Sarama et al., 2012) and provide support for these relations to be examined in more depth.

An unexpected relation of the HNE predicting phonological awareness outcomes was also found. Although this relation was not hypothesized due to some previous research findings on the cross-domain development of mathematics and literacy (e.g., Purpura et al., 2011), it is in line with other research that has found relations between numeracy and phonological awareness (Hecht et al., 2001). One potential explanation for this finding is that parents who engage their children in more frequent numeracy practices may also engage their children in more complex literacy practices. The only item that was included in the HLE score that would have a clear relation to phonological awareness was identifying letter sounds. It may be that there were unmeasured practices that parents engaged their children in, such as identifying rhyming words, that are more complex and more predictive of phonological awareness outcomes than those included in the HLE. The HNE may not be related to phonological awareness outcomes directly, but rather served as a proxy for more advanced home practices. An additional explanation, as speculated by Hecht et al. (2001), may be that phonological memory, which is necessary to perform phonological awareness tasks, is also related to numerical computations. If this is the case, when parents engage their children in numeracy activities, they may also be enhancing children's phonological memory, which then enhances abilities related to phonological awareness. Additional research is necessary in order to understand the mechanisms underlying the relations between specific literacy and numeracy skills, and *why* practices in each domain may be related to seemingly unrelated outcomes in the other domain.

The relation found between the HNE and literacy outcomes provides additional evidence of the connections between early numeracy and literacy development. The finding that the HNE is predictive of literacy outcomes (i.e., definitional vocabulary and phonological awareness) above and beyond the HLE is well-aligned with previous findings that early numeracy skills are an even stronger predictor of later literacy skills than are early literacy skills (Duncan et al., 2007). The function of numeracy as a predictor of literacy outcomes is likely due to the strong language base underlying numeracy development. As explained by previous researchers (e.g., Anders et al., 2012), language is a necessary tool in the development of numeracy skills. It is likely that, because learning and refining numeracy skills requires complex and rich language, these practices may also contribute to the development of language skills.

4.2.3 The Home Learning Environment and Academic Outcomes

Despite targeted relations within and across domains, there appears to be significant overlap between the HLE and HNE. A strong correlation was found between the HLE and HNE, indicating that, on average, the more frequently parents practiced one domain with their child, the more frequently they also practiced the other. This relation may explain why the HNE was no longer a significant predictor of numeracy outcomes when the HLE was added to the model—essentially, the two home environment factors share significant variance. The strong correlations between the HLE and HNE, and the ability of the HNE to predict two of the three literacy outcomes, may indicate that the HLE and HNE are not two distinct constructs. It is possible that investigations that consider literacy and numeracy practices together, as one construct rather than competing factors, may be a more accurate way of understanding the relations between parents' practices and children's literacy and numeracy outcomes. For example, Melhuish and colleagues (2008) found that a broadly defined home learning environment which included both literacy and numeracy practices predicted children's literacy and numeracy outcomes. This speculation was assessed in post hoc analyses. Utilizing a broad home learning environment as a predictor resulted in findings similar to when the HLE and HNE were utilized as separate predictors. The broad home learning environment significantly predicted definitional vocabulary, phonological awareness, and numeracy outcomes, but did not significantly predict print knowledge outcomes. Ultimately, more work on the nuanced relations within and across domains of the home environment is needed.

## 4.3 Limitations and Future Directions

Though the findings of this study offer an important contribution to the growing literature on the home learning environment, a few limitations should be noted. These limitations indicate future lines of study that should be explored. First, this study is correlational and should not be interpreted in a causal framework. The HNE was found to predict numeracy, vocabulary, and phonological awareness outcomes. However, it is impossible to deduce through the present study design that the HNE causes changes in numeracy or literacy development. Though causal inferences cannot be made, the results of this study are important in understanding the relations of parents' practices with their children's academic development. Further, the results provide evidence that parents' practices outside of literacy-based activities may support the development of children's literacy skills. Though preliminary research indicates that improving the HNE may positively affect children's outcomes (Niklas et al., 2015), additional research is needed to conclude whether or not there is a causal relation between the HNE and children's numeracy abilities.

A second limitation is that the sample used in this study was relatively homogeneous (e.g., 72% Caucasian). Though the sample included in these analyses is representative of the population from which it was drawn, a more inclusive sample should be utilized in future studies to examine the relations for families from various ethnic and linguistic backgrounds. The examination of cross-domain relations between the home environment and children's academic outcomes should be conducted in diverse samples to determine whether the relations found in this study hold true in various populations. In addition to ethnic homogeneity, parents' educational attainment was, on average, high in this study. It is important to determine whether the practices of parents who have lower levels of education are related to their children's academic outcomes in similar patterns that were found in the present study.

A third limitation is that the measures of the home literacy and numeracy environments were retrospective parent report. As in all cases of self-report, there is potential for reporter bias. It is also possible that parents did not remember or realize the frequency of their activities. Future studies may benefit from using a diary method so that parents can record their numeracy and literacy practices daily rather than relying on memory. Additionally, observations of parent-child numeracy interactions may provide researchers with more insight as to *why* numeracy practices are related to preschoolers' language and phonological awareness outcomes. There are also limitations of the measure of the HLE in the current study (i.e., the HLE was limited to four items). Future research should include broader measures of the HLE, as well as additional items focusing on language and literacy development. Lastly, the effect sizes are relatively small. Though any insight into the relations between the home environment and children's outcomes is meaningful, there is still a significant amount of variability in children's performance left to be explained. This study is limited in its ability to account for factors beyond the home environment that account for children's literacy and numeracy development because other factors (e.g., the preschool setting) were not measured. The current investigation indicates that the HLE and HNE are only two of what are likely several predictors of children's outcomes. Further research is needed to determine the other factors that contribute to the prediction of children's literacy and numeracy outcomes. Subsequent studies should examine the relations between these predictors and children's outcomes, and also to examine the potential for interactions between predictors (e.g., the home and preschool environments).

Two additional areas for future research should be acknowledged. First, the outcomes of the cross-domain relations between the HNE and literacy outcomes draw attention for the need of an investigation as to *why* there are relations between numeracy and literacy development. Particularly, investigation is needed to determine how parents' numeracy practices are related to children's outcomes. The HNE was predictive of preschoolers' phonological awareness outcomes; the mechanisms underlying this relation should be examined in order to better determine how phonological awareness and numeracy are related.

Finally, there is a need to determine the relations between specific parent-child practices and children's outcomes. The HLE was differentially related to children's literacy outcomes, indicating that examining the general HLE may not be an ideal way to determine relations between practices and outcomes. It may be that examining the relations between specific practices and specific outcomes is a better reflection of the relations between the home environment and children's outcomes. In addition to examining specific practices and outcomes, it is important for future investigations to include analyses of relations not only within domains, but across domains as well. This is particularly true for causal investigations as interventions designed to improve numeracy outcomes may also benefit language development (e.g., Sarama et al., 2012). Further investigation is needed to understand whether relations between the home environment and children's outcomes are better explained by examining specific practices or the general learning environment.

#### 4.4 Conclusion

The findings of this study fill an important gap in the literature. The home numeracy environment was predictive not only of preschoolers' numeracy outcomes, but of their definitional vocabulary and phonological awareness outcomes as well. This finding goes beyond the important relations previously found between numeracy and literacy development and illustrates the ability of parent-child numeracy practices to predict children's language outcomes. Specifically, the outcomes provide rationale for conducting additional research on the HNE and the mechanisms underlying its crossdomain relations to literacy outcomes. These findings provide additional evidence that early literacy and numeracy development are related, as well as providing evidence of the cross-domain relations between the home numeracy environment and preschoolers' literacy outcomes. A deeper understanding of parents' numeracy practices is necessary to understand how preschoolers' literacy and numeracy learning may be promoted in the home setting. TABLES

Table 1	
Descriptive Statistics of Covariates,	Child Outcomes, and Home Environment

Variable	М	SD	Range	Min.	Max.	Skew	Kurtosis
Covariates							
Age	4.09	0.59	2.16	3.01	5.17	0.00	-0.95
Children in Home	0.83	0.76	3.00	0.00	3.00	0.54	-0.34
RAN (seconds)	77.49	28.37	134.75	37.50	172.25	1.43	2.32
Fall Assessments							
PENS-B	10.46	5.79	23.00	0.00	23.00	0.21	-0.80
Print Knowledge	18.79	11.04	36.00	0.00	36.00	-0.15	-1.30
Definitional Vocabulary	50.90	12.21	58.00	8.00	66.00	-1.33	1.56
Phonological Awareness	14.89	5.47	22.00	5.00	27.00	0.16	-0.65
Spring Assessments							
PENS-B	13.55	5.95	24.00	0.00	24.00	-0.16	-0.98
Print Knowledge	24.13	9.90	34.00	2.00	36.00	-0.70	-0.69
Definitional Vocabulary	54.41	9.23	47.00	22.00	69.00	-1.12	1.33
Phonological Awareness	17.28	5.92	25.00	2.00	27.00	-0.51	-0.45
Home Literacy Environment	3.23	0.88	4.25	0.75	5.00	-0.46	0.06
Home Numeracy Environment	2.25	0.75	3.75	0.13	3.88	-0.36	-0.18

*N* = 114.

Note. RAN = Rapid Automatized Naming; PENS-B = Preschool Early Numeracy Scale – Brief Version

1 a O C L															
Correlations Betw	veen Cove	ariates	, Child	Outcome	es, and H	ome Envi	ironment	ţ							
Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
Covariates															
1. Age	-														
2. Children in Home	.17	_													
3. Child Sex	.21*	.09	_												
4. Parent Education	06	06	.09	-											
5. RAN	45***	04	04	10	_										
Fall Assessments															
6. PENS-B	.62***	.08	.01	.30***	53***	_									
7. PK	.42***	17	05	.39***	48***	.69***	_								
8. DV	.57***	.01	.01	.12	50***	.53***	.52***	_							
9. PA	$.40^{***}$	06	02	.04	31***	.46***	.43***	.43***	_						
Spring Assessments															
10. PENS-B	$.55^{***}$	06	.02	$.19^{*}$	47***	.69***	.63***	.51***	$.47^{***}$	_					
11. PK	.41***	04	20*	$.29^{**}$	51***	.65***	.81***	$.48^{***}$	.42***	.62***	_				
12. DV	.51***	.04	07	.32***	40***	.61***	.52***	.74***	.43***	$.58^{***}$	$.56^{***}$	_			
13. PA	.41***	.01	08	$.22^{*}$	39***	$.58^{***}$	.51***	.41***	.46***	$.56^{***}$	.64***	.61***	-		
Home Environment															
14. HLE	$.28^{**}$	04	08	.21*	26**	.29**	.39***	$.28^{**}$	.17	$.40^{***}$	$.40^{***}$	$.40^{***}$	.33***	_	
15. HNE	.30***	.05	.01	.12	19*	.29***	.29**	.21*	.13	$.40^{***}$	.33***	.45***	.35***	.61***	_

Table 2

N = 114.

*Note.* RAN = Rapid Automatized Naming; PENS-B = Preschool Early Numeracy Scale – Brief Version, PK = Print Knowledge, DV = Definitional Vocabulary, PA = Phonological Awareness, HLE = Home Literacy Environment, HNE = Home Numeracy Environment  $*p \le .05$ ,  $**p \le .01$ ,  $***p \le .001$ 

Variable	В	SE	β	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Step 1: Covariates			•			•			
RAN	-0.05	0.02	-0.14*	-0.05	0.02	-0.14*	-0.05	0.02	-0.14*
Children in the home	1.07	0.71	0.08	1.09	0.71	0.08	1.03	0.71	0.08
Parent education	0.27	0.36	0.05	0.22	0.36	0.04	0.22	0.36	0.04
Child sex	-3.90	1.08	-0.20***	-3.75	1.09	-0.19***	-3.78	1.09	-0.19***
Age	1.56	1.11	0.09	1.34	1.13	0.08	1.21	1.14	0.07
Fall Print Knowledge	0.62	0.06	0.69***	0.61	0.07	0.68***	0.61	0.07	0.68***
Step 2:									
HLE				0.68	0.65	0.06	0.23	0.78	0.02
Step 3:									
HNE							0.92	0.88	0.07
$R^2$		0.72			0.72			0.72	
$\Delta R^2$		0.72***			0.00			0.00	

Table 3Hierarchical Regression Analysis Predicting Spring Print Knowledge

 $p \le .05, p \le .01, p \le .001$ 

Variable	В	SE	β	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Step 1: Covariates									
RAN	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.04
Children in the home	0.29	0.71	0.02	0.39	0.70	0.03	0.21	0.66	0.02
Parent education	1.61	0.34	0.28***	1.46	0.34	0.26	1.44	0.32	0.25***
Child sex	-2.78	1.11	-0.15*	-2.43	1.11	-0.13	-2.51	1.04	-0.14*
Age	3.63	1.21	0.23**	3.13	1.22	0.20	2.50	1.15	0.16*
Fall Definitional Vocabulary	0.45	0.06	0.59***	0.44	0.06	0.58	0.45	0.05	0.59***
Step 2:									
HLE				1.23	0.65	0.12*	-0.36	0.74	-0.04
Step 3:									
HNE							3.36	0.84	0.27***
$\mathbf{p}^2$		0.65			0.66			0.70	
$\Delta R^2$		0.65***			0.00			0.04***	

Table 4Hierarchical Regression Analysis Predicting Spring Definitional Vocabulary

 $p \le .05, p \le .01, p \le .01$ 

Variable	В	SE	β	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Step 1: Covariates									•
RAN	-0.04	0.02	-0.17	-0.03	0.02	-0.15	-0.03	0.02	-0.16
Children in the home	0.07	0.61	0.01	0.13	0.61	0.02	0.06	0.60	0.01
Parent education	0.81	0.29	0.22**	0.70	0.29	0.19*	0.69	0.29	0.19*
Child sex	-1.86	0.94	-0.16*	-1.62	0.95	-0.14	-1.66	0.94	-0.14
Age	2.66	0.96	0.27**	2.31	0.98	0.23*	2.03	0.98	0.20*
Fall Phonological Awareness	0.31	0.09	0.29***	0.31	0.09	0.29***	0.32	0.09	0.29***
Step 2:									
HLE				0.85	0.56	0.13	0.10	0.67	0.02
Step 3:									
HNE							1.51	0.77	0.19*
<b>n</b> <sup>2</sup>		0.27			0.29			0.40	
K		0.37			0.38			0.40	
$\Delta R^2$		0.37			0.01			0.02	

Table 5Hierarchical Regression Analysis Predicting Spring Phonological Awareness

\* $p \le .05$ , \*\* $p \le .01$ , \*\*\* $p \le .001$ 

Variable	В	SE	β	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Step 1: Covariates			·			•			L L
RAN	-0.02	0.02	-0.12	-0.02	0.02	-0.11	-0.02	0.02	-0.10
Children in the home	-1.02	0.53	-0.13*	-1.04	0.51	-0.13*	-0.99	0.51	-0.13
Parent education	0.16	0.28	0.04	0.08	0.27	0.02	0.02	0.27	0.00
Child sex	-0.36	0.83	-0.03	-0.23	0.81	-0.02	-0.09	0.82	-0.01
Age	2.27	0.97	0.23*	1.79	0.95	0.18	1.64	0.96	0.16
Fall PENS-B	0.50	0.10	0.49***	0.48	0.10	0.47***	0.49	0.10	0.48***
Step 2:									
HNE				1.55	0.54	0.20**	1.15	0.66	0.15
Step 3:									
HLE							0.62	0.58	0.09
$R^2$		0.53			0.56			0.57	
$\Delta R^2$		0.53***			0.03**			0.01	

Table 6Hierarchical Regression Analysis Predicting Spring PENS-B

\* $p \le .05, **p \le .01, ***p \le .001$ 

REFERENCES

#### REFERENCES

- Adi-Japha, E., & Klein, P. S. (2009). Relations between parenting quality and cognitive performance of children experiencing varying amounts of childcare. *Child Development*, 80, 893-906. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01304.x
- Anders, Y., Rossbach, H.-G., Weinert, S., Ebert, S., Kuger, S., Lehrl, S., & von Maurice, J. (2012). Home and preschool learning environments and their relations to the development of early numeracy skills. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 27, 231-244. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.08.003
- Aunio, P., & Niemivirta, M. (2010). Predicting children's mathematical performance in grade one by early numeracy. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 20, 427-435. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2010.06.003
- Aunola, K., Leskinen, E., Lerkkanen, M.-K., & Nurmi, J.-E. (2004). Developmental dynamics of math performance from preschool to grade 2. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96, 699-713. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.96.4.699
- Baker, C. E. (2014). African American fathers' contributions to children's early academic achievement: Evidence from two-parent families from the Early Childhood
  Longitudinal Study Birth Cohort. *Early Education and Development, 25,* 19-35. doi:10.1080/10409289.2013.764225

Baker, C. E., & Iruka, I. U. (2013). Maternal psychological functioning and children's school readiness: The mediating role of home environments for African American children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 28, 509-519. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.02.004

Baroody, A. E., & Diamond, K. E. (2012). Links among home literacy environment,
literacy interest, and emergent literacy skills in preschoolers at risk for reading
difficulties. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 32*, 78-87.
doi:10.1177/0271121410392803

- Benigno, J. P., & Ellis, S. (2004). Two is greater than three: Effects of older siblings on parental support of preschoolers' counting in middle-income families. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *19*, 4-20. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2004.01.006
- Bennett, K. K., Weigel, D. J., & Martin, S. S. (2002). Children's acquisition of early literacy skills: Examining family contributions. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 17, 295-317. doi:10.1016/S0885-2006(02)00166-7
- Blevins-Knabe, B., & Musun-Miller, L. (1996). Number use at home by children and their parents and its relationship to early mathematical performance. *Early Development and Parenting*, *5*, 35-45. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-0917(199603)5:1<35::AID-EDP113>3.0.CO;2-0
- Bloom, P., & Wynn, K. (1997). Linguistic cues in the acquisition of number words. *Journal of Child Language*, 24, 511-533. doi:10.1017/S0305000997003188
- Bradley, R. H., Burchinal, M. R., & Casey, P. H. (2001). Early intervention: The moderating role of the home environment. *Applied Developmental Science*, *5*, 2-8. doi:<u>10.1207/S1532480XADS0501\_1</u>

- Brizuela, B. M. (2004). Mathematical development in young children: Exploring notations. NY: Teachers College Press.
- Brooks-Gunn, J., Klebanov, P. K., Smith, J., Duncan, G. J., & Lee, K. (2003). The blackwhite test score gap in young children: Contributions of test and family characteristics. *Applied Developmental Science*, *7*, 239-252. doi:10.1207/S1532480XADS0704\_3
- Brooks-Gunn, J., & Markman, L. B. (2005). The contribution of parenting to ethnic and racial gaps in school readiness. *The Future of Children*, 15, 139-168. doi:10.1353/foc.2005.0001
- Burgess, S. R., Hecht, S. A., & Lonigan, C. J. (2002). Relations of the home literacy environment (HLE) to the development of reading-related abilities: A one-year longitudinal study. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *37*, 408-426. doi:10.1598/RRQ.37.4.4
- Bus, A. G., van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Pellegrini, A. D. (1995). Joint book reading makes for success in learning to read: A meta-analysis on intergenerational transmission of literacy. *Review of Educational Research*, 65, 1-21. doi:10.3102/00346543065001001
- Byrnes, J. P., & Wasik, B. A. (2009). Factors predictive of mathematics achievement in kindergarten, first and third grades: An opportunity-propensity analysis. *Contemporary Educational Psychology, 34*, 167-183.
  doi:10.1016/j.cedpsych.2009.01.002

- Cabell, S. Q., Justice, L. M., Logan, J. A. R., & Konold, T. R. (2013). Emergent literacy profiles among prekindergarten children from low-SES backgrounds:
  Longitudinal considerations. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 28, 608-620. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.03.007
- Chang, A., Sandhofer, C. M., & Brown, C. S. (2011). Gender biases in early number exposure to preschool-aged children. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 30, 440-450. doi:10.1177/0261927X11416207
- Chatterji, M. (2006). Reading achievement gaps, correlates, and moderators of early reading achievement: Evidence from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study (ECLS) kindergarten to first grade sample. *Journal of Educational Psychology, 98*, 489-507. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.98.3.489
- Chazan-Cohen, R., Raikes, H., Brooks-Gunn, J., Ayoub, C., Pan, B. A., Kisker, E. E.
  ...Fuligni, A. S. (2009). Low-income children's school readiness: Parent
  contributions over the first five years. *Early Education and Development, 20*, 958-977. doi:10.1080/10409280903362402
- Clements, D. H., Baroody, A. J., & Sarama, J. (2013). Background research on early mathematics: Background research for the National Governors Association (NGA) Center Project on Early Mathematics. Washington, D.C.: National Governors Association. Retrieved from http://www.nga.org/cms/home/nga-center-for-bestpractices/meeting--webcast-materials/page-edu-meetings-webcasts/col2content/main-content-list/strengthening-early-mathematics.html
- Daniels, J. (2012). Home literacy environment of African American Head Start children. Journal of Education and Learning, 6, 133-146. doi:10.11591/edulearn.v6i3.156

- Davidse, N. J., De Jong, M. T., Bus, A. G. (2014). Explaining common variance shared by early numeracy and literacy. *Reading and Writing*, 27, 631-648. doi:10.1007/s11145-013-9465-0
- DeFlorio, L., & Beliakoff, A. (2014). Socioeconomic status and preschoolers' mathematical knowledge: The contribution of home activities and parent beliefs. *Early Education and Development*, 1-23. doi:10.1080/10409289.2015.968239
- Devlin, K. (2000). *The math gene: How mathematical thinking evolved and how numbers are like gossip.* New York: Basic Books.
- Dickinson, D. K., McCabe, A., Anastasopoulos, L., Peisner-Feinberg, E. S., & Poe, M. D. (2003). The comprehensive language approach to early literacy: The interrelationships among vocabulary, phonological sensitivity, and print knowledge among preschool-aged children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95, 465-481. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.95.3.465
- Duncan, G. J., Dowsett, C. J., Claessens, A., Magnuson, K., Huston, A. C., Klebanov,
  P...Japel, C. (2007). School readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 43, 1428-1446. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1428
- Fantuzzo, J., Gadsen, V., Li, F., Sproul, F., McDermott, P., Hightower, D., & Minney, A. (2013). Multiple dimensions of family engagement in early childhood education:
  Evidence for a short form of the Family Involvement Questionnaire. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 28, 734-742. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.07.001
- Farver, J. A. M., Xu, Y., Lonigan, C. J., & Eppe, S. (2013). The home literacy environment and Latino Head Start children's emergent literacy skills. *Developmental Psychology*, 49, 775-791. doi:10.1037/a0028766

- Feigenson, L., & Carey, S. (2003). Tracking individuals via object-files: Evidence from infants' manual search. *Developmental Science*, 6, 568-584. doi:10.1111/1467-7687.00313
- Fluck, M., Linnell, M., & Holgate, M. (2005). Does counting count for 3- to 4-year-olds?
  Parental assumptions about preschool children's understanding of counting and cardinality. *Social Development*, *14*, 496-513. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9507.2005.00313.x
- Foster, M. A., Lambert, R., Abbott-Shim, M., McCarty, F., & Franze, S. (2005). A model of home learning environment and social risk factors in relation to children's emergent literacy and social outcomes. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 20*, 13-36. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2005.01.006
- Foy, J. G., & Mann, V. (2003). Home literacy environment and phonological awareness in preschool children: Differential effects for rhyme and phoneme awareness. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 24, 59-88. doi:10.1017.S0142716403000043
- Gelman, R., & Butterworth, B. (2005). Number and language: How are they related? *TRENDS in Cognitive Sciences*, *9*, 6-10. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2004.11.004
- Georgiou, G. K., Tziraki, N., Manolitsis, G., & Fella, A. (2013). Is rapid automatized naming related to reading and mathematics for the same reason(s)? A follow-up study from kindergarten to grade 1. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *115*, 481-496. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2013.01.004
- Gersten, R., & Chard, D. (1999). Number sense: Rethinking arithmetic instruction for students with mathematical disabilities. *The Journal of Special Education*, *33*, 18-28. doi:10.1177/002246699903300102

- Ginsburg, H. P., Lee, J. S., & Boyd, J. S. (2008). Mathematics education for young children: What it is and how to promote it. *Social Policy Report*, *22*, 3-23.
- Grimm, K. J. (2008). Longitudinal associations between reading and mathematics achievement. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 33, 410-426. doi:10.1080/87565640801982486

Gunderson, E. A., & Levine, S. C. (2011). Some types of parent number talk count more than others: Relations between parents' input and children's cardinal-number knowledge. *Developmental Science*, *14*, 1021-1032. doi:10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01050.x

- Hecht, S. A., Torgesen, J. K., Wagner, R. K., & Rashotte, C. A. (2001). The relations between phonological processing abilities and emerging individual differences in mathematical computation skills: A longitudinal study from second to fifth grades. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *79*, 192-227. doi:10.1006/jecp.2000.2586
- Hill, N. E. (2001). Parenting and academic socialization as they relate to school readiness:
  The roles of ethnicity and family income. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *93*, 686-697. doi:10.1037//0022-0663.93.4.686
- Hindman, A. H., & Morrison, F. J. (2012). Differential contributions of three parenting dimensions to preschool literacy and social skills in a middle-income sample. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 58, 191-223. doi:10.1353/mpq.2012.0012

- Hindman, A. H., Skibbe, L. E., & Foster, T. D. (2014). Exploring the variety of parental talk during shared book reading and its contributions to preschool language and literacy: Evidence from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Birth Cohort. *Reading and Writing*, 27, 287-313. doi:10.1007/s11145-013-9445-4
- Holloway, S. D., Rambaud, M. F., Fuller, B., & Eggers-Piérola, C. (1995). What is
  "appropriate practice" at home and in child care?: Low-income mothers' views on
  preparing their children for school. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 10,* 451473. doi:10.1016/0885-2006(95)90016-0
- Hood, M., Conlon, E., & Andrews, G. (2008). Preschool home literacy practice and children's literacy development: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *100*, 252-271. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.100.2.252
- Hurford, D. P., Schauf, J. D., Bunce, L., Blaich, T., & Moore, K. (1994). Early identification of children at risk for reading disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 27, 371-382. doi:10.1177/002221949402700604
- Jordan, N. C., Kaplan, D., Ramineni, C., & Locuniak, M. N. (2009). Early math matters: Kindergarten number competence and later mathematics outcomes. *Developmental Psychology*, 45, 850-867. doi:10.1037/a0014939
- Jordan, N. C., & Levine, S. C. (2009). Socioeconomic variation, number competence, and mathematics learning difficulties in young children. *Developmental Disabilities*, 15, 60-68. doi:10.1002/ddrr.46
- Kleemans, T., Peeters, M., Segers, E., & Verhoeven, L. (2012). Child and home predictors of early numeracy skills in kindergarten. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 27,* 471-477. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.12.004

- Klibanoff, R. S., Levine, S. C., Huttenlocher, J., Vasilyeva, M., & Hedges, L. V. (2006).
  Preschool children's mathematical knowledge: The effect of teacher "math talk." *Developmental Psychology*, 42, 59-69. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.42.1.59
- Kluczniok, K., Lehrl, S., Kuger, S., & Rossbach, H.-G. (2013). Quality of the home learning environment during preschool age – Domains and contextual conditions. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 21, 420-438. doi:10.1080/1350293X.2013.814356
- Kohen, D., & Guèvremont, A. (2014). Income disparities in preschool outcomes and the role of family, child, and parenting factors. *Early Child Development and Care*, 184, 266-292. doi:10.1080/03004430.2013.785539
- Kroesbergen, E. H., Van Luit, J. E. H., Van Lieshout, E. C. D. M., Van Loosbroek, E., & Van de Rijt, B. A. M. (2009). Individual differences in early numeracy: The role of executive functions and subitizing. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 27, 226-236. doi:10.1177/0734282908330586
- Kurdek, L. A., & Sinclair, R. J. (2001). Predicting reading and mathematics achievement in fourth-grade children from kindergarten readiness scores. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93, 451-455. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.93.3.451
- Lee, V. E., & Croninger, R. G. (1994). The relative importance of home and school in the development of literacy skills for middle-grade students. *American Journal of Education, 102,* 286-329. doi:10.1086/444071

LeFevre, J.-A., Clarke, T., & Stringer, A. P. (2002). Influences of language and parental involvement on the development of counting skills: Comparisons of French- and English-speaking Canadian children. *Early Child Development and Care, 172,* 283-300. doi:10.1080/03004430212127

LeFevre, J.-A., Fast, L., Skwarchuk, S.-L., Smith-Chant, B. L., Bisanz, J., Kamawar, D.,
& Penner-Wilger, M. (2010). Pathways to mathematics: Longitudinal predictors of performance. *Child Development*, *81*, 1753-1767. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01508.x

- LeFevre, J.-A., Polyzoi, E., Skwarchuk, S.-L., Fast, L., & Sowinski, C. (2010). Do home numeracy and literacy practices of Greek and Canadian parents predict the numeracy skills of kindergarten children? *International Journal of Early Years Education, 18*, 55-70. doi:10.1080/09669761003693926
- LeFevre, J.-A., Skwarchuk, S.-L., Smith-Chant, B. L., Fast, L., Kamawar, D., & Bisanz, J. (2009). Home numeracy experiences and children's math performance in the early school years. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, *41*, 55-66. doi:10.1037/a0014532
- Levy, B. A., Gong, Z., Hessels, S., Evans, M. A., & Jared, D. (2006). Understanding print:
   Early development and the contributions of home literacy experiences. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 93, 63-93. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2005.07.003
- Light, J. G., & DeFries, J. C. (1995). Comorbidity of reading and mathematics disabilities:
  Genetic and environmental etiologies. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 28, 96-106. doi:10.1177/002221949502800204

- Lonigan, C. J., Wagner, R. K., Torgesen, J. K., & Rashotte, C. (2007). Test of Preschool Early Literacy. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Lopez, E. M., Gallimore, R., Garnier, H., & Reese, L. (2007). Preschool antecedents of mathematics achievement of Latinos: The influence of family resources, early literacy experiences, and preschool attendance. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences, 29*, 456-471. doi:10.1177/0739986307305910
- Lukie, I. K., Skwarchuk, S.-L., LeFevre, J.-A., & Sowinski, C. (2014). The role of child interests and collaborative parent-child interactions in fostering numeracy and literacy development in Canadian homes. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 42, 251-259. doi:10.1007/s10643-013-0604-7
- Mahatmya, D., Lohman, B. J., Matjasko, J., & Farb, A. F. (2012). Engagement across developmental periods. In S. L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Student Engagement* (pp. 45-63). New York: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-2018-7\_3
- Melhuish, E. C., Phan, M. B., Sylva, K., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I., & Taggart, B. (2008), Effects of the home learning environment and preschool center experience upon literacy and numeracy development in early primary school. *Journal of Social Issues*, 64, 95-114. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.2008.00550.x
- Missall, K., Hojnoski, R. L., Caskie, G. L., & Repasky, P. (2015). Home numeracy environments of preschoolers: Examining relations among mathematical activities, parent mathematical beliefs, and early mathematical skills. *Early Education and Development, 26*, 356-376. doi:10.1080/10409289.2015.968243

- Mix, K. S., Huttenlocher, J., & Levine, S. C. (2002). Multiple cues for quantification in infancy: Is number one of them? *Psychological Bulletin*, 128, 278-294. doi:10.1037//0033-2909.128.2.278
- Munn, P. (1994). The early development of literacy and numeracy skills. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 2, 5-18. doi:10.1080/13502939485207491
- National Mathematics Advisory Panel (2008). *Foundations for Success: The Final Report of the National Mathematics Advisory Panel*, U.S. Department of Education: Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/mathpanel/report/final-report.pdf
- Niklas, F., Cohrssen, C., & Tayler, C. (2015). Improving preschoolers' numerical abilities by enhancing the home numeracy environment. *Early Education and Development*, 1-12. doi:10.1080/10409289.2015.1076676
- Niklas, F., & Schneider, W. (2013). Casting the die before the die is cast: The importance of the home numeracy environment for preschool children. *European Journal of Psychology Education*, 1-19. doi:10.1007/s10212-013-0201-6
- O'Neill, D. K., Pearce, M. J., & Pick, J. L. (2004). Preschool children's narratives and performance on the Peabody Individualized Achievement Test Revised:
  Evidence of a relation between early narrative and later mathematical ability. *First Language*, 24, 149-183. doi:10.1177/0142723704043529

- Payne, A. C., Whitehurst, G. J., & Angell, A. L. (1994). The role of home literacy environment in the development of language ability in preschool children from low-income families. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 9, 427-440. doi:10.1016/0885-2006(94)90018-3
- Piasta, S. B., Purpura, D. J., & Wagner, R. (2010). Fostering alphabet knowledge development: A comparison of two instructional approaches. *Reading and Writing*, 23, 607-626. doi:10.1007/s11145-009-9174-x
- Pullen, P. C., & Justice, L. M. (2003). Enhancing phonological awareness, print awareness, and oral language skills in preschool children. *Intervention in School* and Clinic, 39, 87-98. doi:10.1177/10534512030390020401
- Pungello, E. P., Kainz, K., Burchinal, M., Wasik, B. H., Sparling, J. J., Ramey, C. T., & Campbell, F. A. (2010). Early educational intervention, early cumulative risk, and the early home environment as predictors of young adult outcomes within a highrisk sample. *Child Development, 81,* 410-426. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01403.x
- Purpura, D. J., & Ganley, C. M. (2014). Working memory and language: Skill-specific or domain-general relations to mathematics? *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 122, 104-121. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2013.12.009

Purpura, D. J., Hume, L. E., Sims, D. M., & Lonigan, C. J. (2011). Early literacy and early numeracy: The value of including early literacy skills in the prediction of numeracy development. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *110*, 647-658. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2011.07.004 Purpura, D. J., & Lonigan, C. J. (2013). Informal numeracy skills: The structure and relations among numbering, relations, and arithmetic operations in preschool. *American Educational Research Journal*, 50, 178-209. doi:10.3102/0002831212465332

- Purpura, D. J., & Napoli, A. R. (2015). Early numeracy and literacy: Untangling the relation between specific components. *Mathematical Thinking and Learning*, 17, 197-218. doi:10.1080/10986065.2015.1016817
- Purpura, D. J., Reid, E. E., Eiland, M. D., & Baroody, A. J. (2015). Using a brief preschool early numeracy skills screener to identify young children with mathematics difficulties. *School Psychology Review*, 44, 41-59. doi:10.17105/SPR44-1.41-59
- Raikes, H., Pan, B. A., Luze, G., Tamis-LeMonda, C.S., Brooks-Gunn, J., Constantine, J.,
  ... Rodriguez, E. T. (2006). Mother-child bookreading in low-income families:
  Correlates and outcomes during the first three years of life. *Child Development*,
  77, 924-953. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00911.x
- Roberts, J., Jurgens, J., & Burchinal, M. (2005). The role of home literacy practices in preschool children's language and emergent literacy skills. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 48*, 345-359. doi:10.1044/1092-4388(2005/024)
- Romano, E., Babchishin, L., Pagani, L. S., & Kohen, D. (2010). School readiness and later achievement: Replication and extension using a nationwide Canadian survey. *Developmental Psychology*, 46, 995-1007. doi:10.1037/a0018880
- Rouse, C., Brooks-Gunn, J., & McLanahan, S. (2005). Introducing the issue. *The Future* of Children, 15, 5-14. doi:10.1353/foc.2005.0010

- Sarama, J., Lange, A. A., Clements, D. H., & Wolfe, C. B. (2012). The impacts of an early mathematics curriculum on oral language and literacy. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 27, 489-502. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.12.002
- Savage, R., Carless, S., & Ferraro, V. (2007). Predicting curriculum and test performance at age 11 years from pupil background, baseline skills, and phonological awareness at age 5 years. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 48, 732-739. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01746.x
- Sénénchal, M., & LeFevre, J.-A. (2002). Parental involvement in the development of children's reading skill: A five-year longitudinal study. *Child Development*, 73, 445-460. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00417
- Seo, K.-H., & Ginsburg, H. P. (2004). What is developmentally appropriate in early childhood mathematics education? Lessons from new research. In D. H. Clements, J. Sarama, & A.-M. DiBiase (Eds.), *Engaging young children in mathematics: Standards for early childhood mathematics education* (pp. 91-104). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associations, Inc.
- Schmitt, S. A., Simpson, A. M., & Friend, M. (2011). A longitudinal assessment of the home literacy environment and early language. *Infant and Child Development*, 20, 409-431. doi:10.1002/icd.733
- Skibbe, L. E., Hindman, A., Connor, C. M., Housey, M., & Morrison, F. J. (2013).
  Relative contributions of pre-kindergarten and kindergarten to children's literacy and mathematics skills. *Early Education and Development*, 24, 687–703. doi:10.1080/10409289.2012.712888

- Skwarchuk, S.-L. (2009). How do parents support preschoolers' numeracy learning experiences at home? *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *37*, 189-197. doi:10.1007/s10643-009-0340-1
- Skwarchuk, S.-L., Sowinski, C., & LeFevre, J.-A. (2014). Formal and informal home learning activities in relation to children's early numeracy and literacy skills: The development of a home numeracy model. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *121*, 63-84. doi:10.1016/j.jecp.2013.11.006
- Slusser, E., Ditta, A., & Sarnecka, B. (2013). Connecting numbers to discrete quantification: A step in child's construction of integer concepts. *Cognition*, 129, 31-41. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2013.05.011
- Snow, C. E., Burns, M. S., & Griffin, P. (Eds.). (1998). Preventing reading difficulties in young children. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Son, S.-H., & Morrison, F. J. (2010). The nature and impact of changes in home learning environment on development of language and academic skills in preschool children. *Developmental Psychology*, 46, 1103-1118. doi:10.1037/a0020065
- Sonnenschein, S., Baker, L., & Serpell, R. (2010). The Early Childhood Project: A 5-year longitudinal investigation of children's literacy development in sociocultural context. In D. Aram & O. Lorat (Eds.), *Literacy Development and Enhancement Across Orthographies and Cultures* (pp. 85-96). New York, NY: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-0834-6

Sonnenschein, S., Galindo, C., Metzger, S. R., Thompson, J. A., Huang, H. C., & Lewis, H. (2012). Parents' beliefs about children's math development and children's participation in math activities. *Child Development Research*, 2012, 1-13. doi:10.1155/2012/851657

Sonnenschein, S., & Munsterman, K. (2002). The influence of home-based reading interactions on 5-year-olds' reading motivations and early literacy development. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 17,* 318-337. doi:10.1016/S0885-2006(02)00167-9

- Stanovich, K. E. (1986). Matthew effects in reading: Some consequences of individual differences in the acquisition of literacy. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 21, 360-407. doi:10.1598/RRQ.21.4.1
- Starkey, P., Klein, A., & Wakeley, A. (2004). Enhancing young children's mathematical knowledge through a pre-kindergarten mathematics intervention. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 19, 99-120. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2004.01.002
- Stevenson, H. W., & Newman, R. S. (1986). Long-term prediction of achievement and attitudes in mathematics and reading. *Child Development*, 57, 646-659. doi:10.2307/1130343
- Storch, S. A., & Whitehurst, G. J. (2002). Oral language and code-related precursors to reading: Evidence from a longitudinal structural model. *Developmental Psychology*, 38, 934-947. doi:10.1037//0012-1649.38.6.934
- Street, B., Baker, D., & Tomlin, A. (2008). Navigating numeracies: Home/school numeracy practices. Dordrecht: Springer.
Torgesen, J. K. (2002). The prevention of reading difficulties. *Journal of School Psychology*, 40, 7-26. doi:10.1016/S0022-4405(01)00092-9

United States Census Bureau. (2013). Nursery and primary school enrollment of people 3 to 6 years old. Retrieved from

http://www.census.gov/hhes/school/data/cps/2013/tables.html

Vandermaas-Peeler, M., & Pittard, C. (2014). Influences of social context on parent guidance and low-income preschoolers' independent and guided math performance. *Early Child Development and Care, 184*, 500-521. doi:10.1080/03004430.2013.799155

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in Society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Wagner, R. K., Torgesen, J. K., Rashotte, C. A., Hecht, S. A., Barker, T. A., Burgess, S. R., ... Garon, T. (1997). Changing relations between phonological processing abilities and word-level reading as children develop from beginning to skilled readers: A 5-year longitudinal study. *Developmental Psychology*, *33*, 468-479. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.33.3.468

- Welsh, J. A., Nix, R. L., Blair, C., Bierman, K. L., & Nelson, K. E. (2010). The development of cognitive skills and gains in academic school readiness for children from low-income families. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*, 43-53. doi:10.1037/a0016738
- Whitehurst, G. J., & Lonigan, C. J. (1998). Child development and emergent literacy. *Child Development, 69,* 848-872. doi:10.2307/1132208

- Yeo, L. S., Ong, W. W., & Ng, C. M. (2014). The home literacy environment and preschool children's reading skills and interest. *Early Education and Development*, 25, 791-814. doi:10.1080/10409289.2014.862147
- Young-Loveridge, J. M. (1987). Learning mathematics. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *5*, 155-167. doi:10.1111/j.2044-835X.1987.tb01051.x
- Young-Loveridge, J. M. (1989). The relationship between children's home experiences and their mathematical skills on entry to school. *Early Child Development and Care, 43*, 43-59. doi:10.1080/0300443890430105
- Zhang, X., Koponen, T., Räsänen, P., Aunola, K., Kerkkanan, M.-K., & Nurmi, J.-E. (2014). Linguistic and spatial skills predict early arithmetic development via counting sequence knowledge. *Child Development*, 85, 1091-1107. doi:10.1111/cdev.12173